
Vestavia Hills  
City Council Agenda 

January 11, 2016 
5:00 PM 

 

1. Call to Order  
2. Roll Call 
3. Invocation – Mindy Bodenhamer, Library in the Forest Foundation  
4. Pledge Of Allegiance   
5. Announcements and Guest Recognition 
6. City Manager’s Report 
7. Councilors’ Reports 
8. Approval of Minutes –  December 28, 2015  (Regular Meeting) 

Old Business  

9. Resolution Number 4783 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Fund 
$599,000 For SHAC, Phase II, In Coordination With The Vestavia Hills Park And 
Recreation Foundation  (Public Hearing) 

New Business  

New Business (Requesting Unanimous Consent)  

First Reading (No Action Taken At This Meeting) 

10. Ordinance Number 2625 - An Ordinance Declaring Certain Real Property As Surplus 
And Authorizing The City Manager To Execute And Deliver A Purchase And Sale 
Agreement For Said Property  (Public Hearing, postponed to January 25, 2016) 

11. Resolution Number 4784 - A Resolution Authorizing Application To ADECA For A 
Land And Water Conservation Fund Grant To Construct A Park At Patchwork Farms  
(Public Hearing) 

12. Citizens Comments  
13. Motion For Adjournment 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 1 
 

 CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

DECEMBER 28, 2015 
 
 The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 5:00 PM.  
The Mayor called the meeting to order and the City Clerk called the roll with the 
following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 

Steve Ammons, Mayor Pro-Tem 
George Pierce  

      John Henley  
      Jim Sharp 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  

Patrick H. Boone, City Attorney 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      George Sawaya, Deputy Treasurer 
      Tim Holcomb, Deputy Police Chief 
      Jim St. John, Fire Chief 
      Marvin Green, Dep. Fire Chief 
      Brian Davis, Public Services Director 
      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
 
 Invocation was given by Jim Sharp followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.   
 

 
ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION, CANDIDATES 

 
• Mr. Pierce welcomed his 7-year old grandchild, Will Kirkpatrick, to the meeting.  
• Mr. Ammons welcomed a former lacrosse player, David Delozier, to the meeting 

who is now playing with Birmingham, 
 
 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

• Mr. Downes stated that the City will close on the Altadena Country Club 
property; approximately 70+/- acres with an appraised value of $1.03 million.  
The City plans to use this property for eventual recreational development. 

 
 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 2 
 

COUNCILORS’ REPORTS 
 

• None. 
 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 
 Melvin Turner III, Finance Director, presented the financial reports for month 
ending November 2015.  He read and explained them. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 The minutes of December 14, 2015 (Work Session) and December 14, 2015 
(Regular Meeting) were presented for approval.   
 
MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of December 14, 2015 

(Work Session) and December 14, 2015 (Regular Meeting) and approve 
them as presented was by Mr. Pierce and second by Mr. Henley.  Roll call 
vote as follows: 

   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2611 
 
Ordinance Number 2611 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 3579 Valley Circle, Lot 18, 

Block 1, Amended Map Of Dolly Ridge Estates, 2nd Addition; P. 
David Deusner, Owner  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2611 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Ammons. 
 
 Mr. Pierce gave the reports for this request and the following 4 annexations.  He 
indicated that these represent the 90-day annexation of properties which were annexed by 
the overnight method approximately 90 days ago.  The final annexation is a follow-up to 
the previous annexations. 
 
 Mr. Ammons asked about Valley Circle which is 50/50 in and out of the City and 
wanted to ensure that the costs would be shared by Jefferson County if it needs 
resurfacing. 
 
 Mr. Brady stated that they would seek assistance from Jeffco at that time. 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 3 
 

 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, the he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2612 
 
Ordinance Number 2612 – Rezoning - 3579 Valley Circle, Lot 18, Block 1, Amended 

Map Of Dolly Ridge Estates, 2nd Addition; Rezone From Jefferson 
County R-1 To Vestavia Hills, R-2, Compatible Zoning For 
Annexation; P. David Deusner, Owner  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2612 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Ammons. 
 
 The Mayor stated that this is the compatible zoning of the same property and 
asked the City Clerk to explain the rezoning/annexation process. 
 
 Ms. Leavings explained that all of these annexations are requesting rezoning to 
the closest and most compatible zoning that the property is presently zoned in the County 
pursuant to the City zoning code.  This Ordinance and the ones that follow are the same 
compatibility requests. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2613 
 
Ordinance Number 2613 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 3527 Valley Circle, Lot 5, 

Block 1, Amended Map Of Dolly Ridge Estates, Second Sector; Paul 
and Katie Harbison, Owners  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2613 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 4 
 

 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2614 
 
Ordinance Number 2614 – Rezoning - 3527 Valley Circle, Lot 5, Block 1, Amended 

Map Of Dolly Ridge Estates, Second Sector; Rezone From Jefferson 
County R-1 To Vestavia Hills, R-2, Compatible Zoning For 
Annexation; Paul and Katie Harbison, Owners  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2614 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2615 
 
Ordinance Number 2615 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2615 Alta Vista Circle; Lot 

6, Altadena Valley Country Club Sector; Bradley and Kelly Belew, 
Owners  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2615 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 5 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2616 
 
Ordinance Number 2616 – Rezoning - 2615 Alta Vista Circle; Lot 6, Altadena 

Valley Country Club Sector; Rezone From Shelby County E-1 To 
Vestavia Hills E-2; Compatible Zoning For Annexation; Bradley And 
Kelly Belew, Owners  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2616 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Sharp. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2617 
 
Ordinance Number 2617 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2720 Alta View Drive; Brad 

and Molly Ainsworth, Owners  (Public Hearing) 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2617 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Discussion ensued as to the correct address of the property which was 2720 Alta 
View and not 2700 as listed on the agenda. 
 
 Brad Ainsworth was present in regard to this request. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2618 
 
Ordinance Number 2618 – Rezoning – 2720 Alta View Drive; Rezone From 

Jefferson County E-1 To Vestavia Hills E-2; Compatible Zoning For 
Annexation; Brad And Molly Ainsworth, Owners  (Public Hearing) 

 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 6 
 

MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2618 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 
was by Mr. Henley. 

 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2619 
 
Ordinance Number 2619 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 4670 Caldwell Mill Road; 

Brooks and Elisabeth Souders, Owners  (Public Hearing) 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2619 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Sharp. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2620 
 
Ordinance Number 2620 – Rezoning – 4670 Caldwell Mill Road; Rezone From 

Jefferson County E-2 To Vestavia Hills R-1; Compatible Zoning For 
Annexation; Brooks and Elisabeth Souders, Owners  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2620 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Sharp. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 7 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2621 
 
Ordinance Number 2621 – Rezoning – 3112 Blue Lake Drive, Lot 5, Topfield 

Subdivision; Rezone From Vestavia Hills R-1 (Residential) To 
Vestavia Hills O-1 (Office District); HD Holdings, LLC, Owner  
(Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2621 was by Mr. Sharp.  Second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained that this is a request to rezone a property from residential 
to office for construction of an office building.  He explained the transition of this 
particular roadway.  P&Z has given it a positive recommendation with conditions to 
allow shared parking between the properties and is conditional upon the recordation of a 
map to that effect. 
 
 Mr. Sharp concurred that the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended 
this request with those conditions. 
 
 Brooks Harris was present in regard to the request. 
 
 Mr. Henley asked about the size of the building and indicated that the backup 
staff report says it is 28,000 SF.  Discussion ensued into the true size of the building and 
that the report contained a typographical error. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2622 
 
Ordinance Number 2622 – Conditional Use Approval – 2565 Mountain Woods 

Drive; Lot 16, Mountain Woods Park, 2nd Addition; Conditional Use 
For The Housing And Raising Of Six (6) Urban Hens With 
Conditions; April And Ginger Aaron-Brush, Owners  (Public 
Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2622 was by Mr. Sharp.  Second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained that this is a request for 6 urban hens.  This request was 
recommended for approval by P&Z with conditions.  He read them, including a 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 8 
 

maximum of 6 hens; the coop shall be permanently located; no roosters; hens and/or eggs 
shall not be used for commercial purposes; the approval is location and resident specific; 
if the owner vacates the use for a year, then it is null and void; and if the owner 
experiences problems with predators, the owners shall contact the Police Department. 
 
 The owner was not present in regard to the request.  Ms. Leavings explained that 
the owner had to comply with her private covenants and obtained enough signatures to 
file a waiver from her covenants to allow these hens.  She stated that she spoke to the 
owner this afternoon and knew that she intended to make this meeting, but there had been 
a drainage problem in her yard from all of the rain of the day and she might have met 
with an emergency. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2623 
 
Ordinance Number 2623 – Conditional Use Approval – 1793 Shades Crest Road; 

Conditional Use Approval For Construction Of A Guest House On 
Said Property With Conditions; David B. Delozier, Owner  (Public 
Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2623 was by Mr. Sharp.  Second 

was by Mr. Ammons. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained that this is a request for construction of a guest house in 
the back of this property.  He stated that the property once had a guest house but it fell 
into disrepair and had to be torn down.  The owner wants to rebuild it on the same 
foundation.  He had it approved by the BZA years ago but didn’t begin construction and 
now a conditional use from the approval of the new code in 2010 is required.  He stated 
that the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended this for approval with the 
condition that the guest house is not leased or rented to someone who is not a member of 
the immediate family and if the house is again torn down, new approval would need to be 
obtained. 
 
 David Delozier was present in regard to the request. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 9 
 

   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2624 
 
Ordinance Number 2624 – Conditional Use Approval – 1836 And 1842 Shades Crest 

Road; Lots 1 & 2, Bradshaw Addition To Vestavia; Conditional Use 
Approval To Construct Front Security Fence/Gates; Phylis And John 
Smith, Owners  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2624 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained that this is a request for construction of front security 
fences and gates for two new homes on Shades Crest Road.  He stated that the Planning 
and Zoning Commission recommended approval for these with the same conditions as 
those homes that can install these by right, including distance from the front property 
line. 
 
 Mr. Ammons asked if these would be subject to DRB review.  Ms. Leavings 
stated that they are not subject to DRB review.  That’s why the Ordinance requires them 
to be metal and/or masonry, open and decorative in nature. 
 
 Mr. Pierce stated that these were always scrutinized by the BZA when these 
requests came before them. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4778 
 
Resolution Number 4778 - A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To 

Authorize Repairs To The Wald Park Swimming Pool  (Public 
Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4778 was by Mr. Ammons.  

Second was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained that these repairs were bid with no responses and the City 
then negotiated with some vendors to negotiate a price for repair.  He stated that the 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 10 
 

Public Services Director recommended this proposal by Clearwater Pools at a cost of 
$116,400.  This Resolution is requesting funding from capital reserve funds. 
 
 Mr. Henley asked why no bids were submitted. 
 
 Jason Burnett, Public Services Department, stated that there was not much time 
allowed in the bid to get the job done before the pool would open to the public.  He 
admitted they were late in pulling the bids together. 
 
 Mr. Ammons pointed out that these repairs are moving to diamond bright surface 
which is much more durable and was discussed at Park Board meeting earlier. 
 
 Andy Lockhart, Clearwater Pools, explained the surface proposed and the process 
to do the pool which hasn’t been done is to strip it of several layers to allow a better 
enduring surface. 
 
 Mr. Pierce asked if there are penalties if the work isn’t done on time.  Mr. 
Downes stated that there’s nothing in the proposed contract. 
 
 Mr. Pierce asked about the pool facilities and if they would wait to do first repairs 
to the pool house facilities first.  Mr. Ammon explained the reasons to wait and do the 
pool now. 
 
 Tommy Coggin, Park Board member, stated that they are in 100% agreement that 
the pool needs to be repaired at this time. 
 
 Discussion ensued about how much would be involved to change the pool to 
competitive length/depth.   
 
 Mr. Pierce asked Mr. Lockhart to communicate with the City should they find any 
delays in the project. 
 
 They Mayor asked about the vendors on the bid list for this project. 
 
 Ms. Leavings indicated that this was a Public Works bid and was advertised, 
posted and published pursuant to Alabama law. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 11 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4779 
 
Resolution Number 4779 – A Resolution For Project Number STPBH-3715() [Proj. 

Ref. No. 100063244] Roadway And Intersection Improvements On 
Cahaba River Road From SR-38 (US-280) To Key Drive In Vestavia 
Hills For Preliminary Engineering  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4779 was by Mr. Ammons.  

Second was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained the next 4 items on the agenda which includes several 
ALDOT agreements to improve Cahaba River Road with the assistance of Birmingham, 
Mountain Brook and Jefferson County. He explained the multi-jurisdictional project, the 
cost estimates, and each of the 4 proposed resolutions/contracts.  He explained that 
Goowyn Mills and Cawood submitted proposals to do the design and engineering for the 
project and was approved by ALDOT.  Mr. Downes stated that these agreements are 
conditional upon approvals by all jurisdictions. 
 
 Mr. Henley stated that the City will manage the project.   
 
 Keith Strickland, GMC, stated that the City is the driving sponsor of the project 
and ALDOT will have full review authority of the design.  He stated that ALDOT will 
bid the project and hold the contract. 
 
 Mr. Boone acknowledged his opinion and review of the agreement. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4780 
 
A Resolution Authorizing The Mayor And City Manager To Execute And Deliver 

An Agreement With Alabama Department Of Transporation For 
Right-Of-Way Acquisition Program For Project STPBH-3715(), 
Project Reference Number 100063245 For Roadway And Intersection 
Improvements On Cahaba River Road From SR-38 (US-280) To Key 
Drive In City Of Vestavia Hills (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4780 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Ammons. 
 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 12 
 

 Mr. Downes stated that this is the 2nd of the 4 agreements. 
 
 Discussion ensued and it was determined that the agenda had a typographical 
error and the project number was Proj. Ref. No. 100063245; however the Resolution was 
correct. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4781 
 
Resolution Number 4781 – A Resolution Authorizing The Mayor And City Manager 

To Execute And Deliver An Agreement With Alabama Department 
Of Transportation For Utility And Construction Agreement For 
Project STPBH-3715(), Project Reference Number 100063246 And 
100063247 For Roadway And Intersection Improvements On Cahaba 
River Road From SR-38 (US-280) To Key Drive In The City Of 
Vestavia Hills (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4781 was by Mr. Henley.  Second 

was by Mr. Sharp. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this is the 3rd of the 4 agreements, which allows the 
utility relocations. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.   
 
 Donald Harwell, 1357 Willoughby Road, asked about the total cost of the project. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained that’s unknown until all of the design is done and each 
jurisdiction’s part is broken down.  He indicated estimates show the project at $7.2 
million which will be funded at 80% by the Federal Government.   
 
 There being no one else to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public 
hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 13 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4782 
 
Resolution Number 4782 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute 

And Deliver Multijurisdictional Agreements With The Cities Of 
Mountain Brook, Birmingham And Jefferson County For Project 
Number STPBH-3715() Cahaba River Road From SR-38 (US 280) To 
Key Drive  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4782 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Ammons. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this is the 4th of the 4 agreements.  This agreement will 
bind all the jurisdictions together on this project. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2626 
 
Ordinance Number 2626 – An Ordinance Authorizing The Mayor And City 

Manager To Execute And Deliver A General Sales Contract For The 
Purchase Of 0.42 Acres Of Property To Be Used As A Part Of A 
Proposed Alternate Access To The Recreational Fields To Be 
Constructed At The Former Altadena Valley Country Club  (Public 
Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2626 was by Mr. Sharp.  Second 

was by Mr. Ammons. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained that execution of this agreement will be the first leg of 
securing an alternate entrance to the recreational fields proposed at the Altadena Valley 
Country Club.  He stated that this has been discussed previously and is a small part of 
securing the access. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council, he closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 14 
 

 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2627 
 
Ordinance Number 2627 – An Ordinance Authorizing The Operation Of 

Transportation Network Companies (TNCs) In The City Of Vestavia 
Hills, Alabama To Provide For The Permitting, Rules And 
Regulations For Said TNCs And To Provide Penalties For Violation 
Thereof  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2627 was by Mr. Pierce.  Second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained that there have been many requests for Uber to operate in 
the City. 
 
 Mr. Boone stated that he modeled the first draft of this proposed Ordinance after 
the City of Mobile and upon research, it was found that the City inspects the vehicles and 
charges a permit fee for their operation.  He indicated that the City doesn’t have the 
ability to do these inspections so there have been some amendments to tie this into the 
Business License Code and make this a business license. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for an amendment. 
 
MOTION Motion to amend the Ordinance to change all references in the Ordinance 

to a business license and add a new NAICS code for TNCs was by Mr. 
Ammons.  Second was by Mr. Pierce.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 Mr. Ammons expressed concerns over background checks that are conducted.  He 
stated that the Ordinance calls for a background check to include multi-state database 
with validation.  He stated that there is no such thing as a national background check.  He 
requested that an Alabama statewide criminal check be done on these drivers.  The 
Mayor opened the floor for a motion. 
 
MOTION Motion to amend the Ordinance to change the background check to 

include those in the by-laws of the Park and Recreation Board was by Mr. 
Ammons.  Second was by Mr. Pierce.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 15 
 

 Mr. Henley stated that this is a TNC ordinance.  He stated that anyone wanting to 
be an Uber driver or any other TNC that personal insurance doesn’t covered once a 
paying passenger is picked up. 
 
 Mr. Pierce stated that he is concerned that the City is not doing the inspections 
and wants to ensure that all TNCs are doing inspections like Uber does to ensure safety. 
 
 Mr. Henley stated the license will be Uber, not the individual drivers and that the 
Ordinance provides that the TNC ensures that the driver is insured. 
 

The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing. 
 
 Donald Harwell, 1357 Willoughby Road, stated that it should be a business 
license and he was glad to see the amendment.  He indicated that the insurance should be 
commercial insurance, not personal.  He also indicated the City could require an 
inspection by the traffic department. 
 
 Mr. Ammons stated that he knows of several persons who have used Uber with 
good results.  All trips are rated and if a vehicle or driver gets poor ratings, they’ll 
probably not be utilized. 
 
 There being no one else to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public 
hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes 
   Mr. Ammons – yes  Mr. Sharp – yes  
   Mayor Zaragoza –yes   Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 The Mayor stated that the following Resolutions and/or Ordinances will be 
presented at a public hearing at the Council’s next regularly scheduled meeting on 
January 11, 2016 at 5 PM. 

• Ordinance Number 2625 - An Ordinance Declaring Certain Real Property As 
Surplus And Authorizing The City Manager To Execute And Deliver A Purchase 
And Sale Agreement For Said Property  (Public Hearing, postponed to January 
11, 2016) 

• Resolution Number 4783 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Fund 
$599,000 For SHAC, Phase II, In Coordination With The Vestavia Hills Park 
And Recreation Foundation 

 
 



City Council Minutes 
 December 28, 2015 

Page 16 
 

CITIZENS COMMENTS 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for citizen comments. 
 

• Patrick Boone explained the public works bidding procedure and the process of 
advertising the project pursuant to Alabama law. 

 
MOTION Motion to adjourn was by Mr. Ammons and second was by Mr. Henley.  

Meeting adjourned at 6:52 PM. 
 
 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 



RESOLUTION NUMBER 4783 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO FUND 
$599,000 FOR SHAC, PHASE II IN COORDINATION WITH THE 
VESTAVIA HILLS PARK AND RECREATION FOUNDATION 

 
 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Park and Recreation Foundation has worked 

collaboratively with the Vestavia Hills Park and Recreation Board to plan and design the second 

phase of the Sicard Hollow Park (SHAC); and 

 WHEREAS, this Phase II includes trails, exercise equipment, pavilions, a splash pad and 

other park amenities at an estimated cost of $1,702,000; and 

 WHEREAS, the Foundation has agreed to fund most of the expense and requests that the 

City funds an amount not to exceed $599,000; and 

 WHEREAS, the City has funded said expense within the current fiscal year budget 

totaling $100,000 and the City Manager has recommended the remaining $499,000 to be funded 

from the City’s Capital Reserve Fund; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed the request and feel it is in the 

best public interest to accept the recommendation of the City Manager. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to fund the City’s portion of the second phase 

of the SHAC park improvements in an amount not to exceed $599,000 ($100,000 

funded from the current fiscal year budget and the remaining $499,000 funding from 

the City’s Capital Reserve fund); and 

2. This Resolution Number 4783 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 11th day of January, 2016. 

 
 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 



Resolution Number 4783 Exhibit



Ordinance Number 2625 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER_2625 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE SALE 
OF REAL ESTATE, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
1280 MONTGOMERY HIGHWAY, VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA. 

 

 THIS ORDINANCE NUMBER 2625 is approved and adopted by the City 

Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama on this the 28th day of December, 2015. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-40-1, Code of Alabama, 1975, declares municipalities 

corporate and gives them the power to contract and be contracted with; and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43-56, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the City 

Council shall have the management and control of the finances and all of the property, 

real and personal, belonging to the City; and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-47-20, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the City 

Council may, by ordinance to be entered in its minutes, direct the disposal of any real 

property not needed for public or municipal purposes and direct the Mayor to make title 

thereto, and a conveyance made by the Mayor in accordance with such ordinance invests 

the grantee with the title of the municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43A-28, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the Cty 

Manager shall be the head of the administrative branch of the government of the City of 

Vestavia Hills and shall be responsible to the City Council for the proper administration 

of all municipal affairs; and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43A-48, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that all contracts 

for the City of Vestavia Hills shall be made and approved by ordinance and signed in the 

name of the City of Vestavia Hills by the mayor and countersigned by the city manager; 

and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-45-8(b), Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that if an 

ordinance is published by posting, then in such event said ordinance shall take effect five 

days thereafter; and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (“City”) is the owner of real 

property situated in the City of Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, which said 



Ordinance Number 2625 
Page 2 

 
real estate shall hereinafter be referred to as the “subject property” and is more 

particularly described as follows: 

Public Works/City Shop Facility located at 1280 Montgomery Highway; 
2.34 acres, more or less; and 
 

 WHEREAS, BAMA Custard, LLC, organized in the State of Kansas and 

qualified to do business in the State of Alabama (“Purchaser”), has requested that the 

City declare said property as surplus and offer for sale to the Purchaser; and 

 WHEREAS, the City finds and determines that it is willing to accept the offer by 

BAMA Custard, LLC; for an amount equivalent to One Million, Two-Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($1,200,000) pursuant to the terms and conditions detailed in an Agreement for 

Purchase and Sale of Real Estate (“Agreement”); a copy of which is marked as Exhibit A, 

attached to and incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2625 as though written fully 

therein; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama finds and 

determines that the subject property is not needed for municipal or public purposes; and 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 1. The subject property is found and determined to not be needed for public 

or municipal purposes by the City of Vestavia Hills and is hereby declared as surplus 

property all in accordance with the requirements of Title 11-47-20, Code of Alabama, 

1975. 

 2. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized and directed to 

execute and deliver all documents required to close said sale for and on behalf of the City 

of Vestavia Hills, Alabama pursuant to the terms and conditions as detailed in the 

attached Exhibit A; and 

 3. A copy of said real estate closing documents, along with said payment, 

will be submitted upon closing and kept on file in the office of the City Clerk of the City 

of Vestavia Hills, Alabama for inspection by members of the general public. 

 4. Upon approval, adoption and enactment of this Ordinance Number 2625 

the Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized and directed to take any and all legal 



Ordinance Number 2625 
Page 3 

 
action necessary to close the sale of the subject property all in accordance with the terms, 

provisions and conditions previously described. 

 5. This Ordinance shall become effective upon its approval, adoption, 

enactment and publication by posting as set forth in Title 11-45-8(b), Code of Alabama, 

1975. 

 6. If any part, section or subdivision of this Ordinance shall be held 

unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to 

invalidate or impair the remainder of this Ordinance which shall continue in full force 

and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

 DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 11th day of January, 

2016. 

      CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
 
 
 
 
      By_________________________________ 
       Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
       Mayor 
       
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2625 
Page 4 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2625 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 28th day of December, 2015 as same appears in the official records 
of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills New Merkle House, Vestavia 
Hills Civic Center and Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest this the ______ day of 
______________, 2015. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625



Exhibit A - Ordinnace No. 2625







Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Exhibits for Ordinance No.  2625



Resolution Number 4784 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4784 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING APPLICATION  TO ADECA FOR A 
LAND AND WATER CONSERVATION FUND GRANT TO CONSTRUCT 
A PARK AT PATCHWORK FARMS 
 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills owns property intended for recreational use at 

Patchwork Farms and proposes to have constructed recreational resources at Patchwork Nature 

Park for the health and wellbeing of the general public; and 

 WHEREAS, the Alabama Department of Economic and Community Affiars (ADECA) 

administers the Land and Water Conservation (LWCF) Program of the National Park Service, 

which provides assistance to communities for development of recreational assets for parks with 

Section 6(f)(3) protection; and 

 WHEREAS, the estimated overall cost to construct Patchwork Nature Park is 

approximately $500,000, which may be performed in phases; and 

 WHEREAS, the construction of  trails with foot bridges has been included in the master 

plan for Patchwork Nature Park, with estimated cost of $340,000; and 

 WHEREAS, the construction of the proposed trails and bridges will provide for 

expanded recreational opportunities by making an additional 8.49 acres accessible to park users; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the required match percentage for the 2015 Funding Cycle LWCF grant is 

50/50 and the grant ceiling is $150,000; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council find it is in the best public interest to accept 

said grant and construct pursuant to the Patchwork Nature Park master plan. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 



Resolution Number 4784 
Page 2 

 
1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to make application to ADECA for LWCF 2015 

Funding Cycle assistance to construct trails at Patchwork Nature Park; and 

2. The City of Vestavia Hills will hold in reserve $190,000, which is the required match for 

LWCF assistance; and 

3. The City of Vestavia Hills understands that it will sign assurances to comply with all 

applicable Federal and State laws, rules, and regulations, including the LWCF Act 

Section 6(f)(3) protection of the park if it is developed with LWCF funding; and   

4. This Resolution Number 4784 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

 DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 25 day of January, 2016.   

 
 
 
 
       Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
       Mayor  
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca H. Leavings, 
City Clerk 



 
   Patchwork Farm Nature Park 
   Executive Summary 
 
 

 
 

The project is to construct a 8’ wide, 1850 lf linear diverse-use asphalt* connector trail including one foot bridge between Healthy 
Way and Old Looney Mill Road, along with a 8’ wide 1080 lf diverse-use gravel* trail with two foot bridges for crossing the creek 
that runs parallel to the trail.  Patchwork Nature Park is a greenspace buffer of 8.49 acres owned by the City of Vestavia Hills and 
located between Lifetime Fitness and the mixed use development of Vestavia Reserve in Patchwork Farms.  The property is also 
bounded by Cahaba River Road and Old Looney Mill Road (Jefferson County, AL).    
 
The proposed trail will connect with the Vestavia Hills sidewalks system, and it will be contiguous to existing fitness/recreational 
facilities and residential/mixed use area.  In addition to providing recreational opportunities, the low-impact construction park will 
serve to protect the riparian buffer around the stream.  Amenities are planned to be minimal, to include benches, garbage cans 
doggie waste stations, and a pavilion (in the future).  
 
*Width and construction of the trails to be determined through public involvement process. 
 

Item Cost  City City in-kind LWCF 
Trail, 1850 lf 8’ asphalt $59,500  . . $59,500 
Trail, 1080 lf 8’ gravel $21,500  . . $21,500 
Other amenities $5,000  . . $5,000 
Signage (2, one per entrance) $1,000  . . $1,000 
Bridges (3@$20K each) $60,000  . . $60,000 
Landscaping  $60,000  $60,000 . 
Drainage $30,000  $30,000 . 
Site grading $40,000  $40,000 . 
Clearing, grubbing, privet 
eradication $35,000

 $35,000 . 
Erosion control $18,000  $15,000 $3,000 
Crosswalk(s) $5,000  $5,000 . 
Project (grant) management and 
engineering oversight $5,000

 . $5,000 . 

PROJECT TOTAL $340,000  $185,000 $5,000 $150,000 
  Cash Outlay City I/K LWCF  

§ 

Exhbit - Resolution No. 4784



PA
TCH

W
O

RK
 N

A
TU

RE
 PA

RK
, 

PRE
LIM

IN
A

RY
 CO

ST E
STIM

A
TE

 
E

stim
ate 1

N
IM

R
O

D
 LO

N
G

 AN
D

 ASSO
C

IATES
05/28/151

D
E

S
C

R
IP

TIO
N

Q
U

A
N

TITY
U

N
IT M

E
A

S
U

R
E

U
N

IT C
O

S
T

G
ravel Trail

A
sphalt Trail

A
dd A

lternates
O

ption A
O

ption B

O
ption A

, 8' w
d. G

ravel Trail 
3,050

LF
$20.00

$61,000.00
O

ption B
, 8' w

d. A
sphalt Trail

3,050
LF

$32.00
$97,600.00

E
rosion C

ontrol
1

Lum
p sum

$18,000.00
$18,000.00

$18,000.00
C

learing, G
rubbing, P

rivet E
radication

1
Lum

p sum
$35,000.00

$35,000.00
$35,000.00

S
ite G

rading
1

Lum
p sum

$40,000.00
$40,000.00

$40,000.00
D

rainage
1

Lum
p sum

$30,000.00
$30,000.00

$30,000.00
Tim

ber Footbridges  
3

E
A

$20,000.00
$60,000.00

$60,000.00
Landscaping 

1
Lum

p sum
$60,000.00

$60,000.00
$60,000.00

B
enches

3
E

A
$1,500.00

$4,500.00
$4,500.00

A
lternate - P

refabricated Footbridges ($10,000 prem
ium

)
3

Lum
p sum

$10,000.00
$30,000.00

A
lternate - P

icnic P
avilion 

1
E

A
$65,000.00

$65,000.00
A

lternate -C
onc. Trail to Lifetim

e (elim
inates bridge-net zero)

1
E

A
$0.00

$0.00
A

lternate - Lighting
1

Lum
p sum

$80,000.00
$80,000.00

TO
TA

L
$308,500.00

345,100.00
$  

175,000.00
$     

Exhbit - Resolution No. 4784


	2016_1114CC_A
	2015_1228CC_M
	Resolution 4783
	Ordinance 2625
	Resolution 4784



